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Summary paragraph

The 1827-32 William W. Gorham House, also known as Oak Hill, is significant under Criterion C in the area of architecture as a well-preserved stone masonry farm residence in the early Greek Revival style, among the most distinguished of the surviving examples of this architectural style from the early decades of development in the Town of Canandaigua. It was constructed for William Wood Gorham (1804-1866), descendant of Nathaniel Gorham and Nathanial Gorham Jr., key figures in the settlement of Ontario County and the western Finger Lakes region beginning in the late 1780s. William Gorham established and operated a large family farm at this site along with his wife Betsey Parrish Gorham, descendant of another prominent figure in the early years of Ontario County, Jasper Parrish. While the architect or pattern book source is not documented, the builders Wells and Loveland participated in the construction, and also worked on several large and sophisticated Greek Revival residences in the City of Canandaigua during the same period, though this is the only one with a stone exterior. Most other high-style homes of the first three decades of the 19th century in the immediate Canandaigua area employed frame or brick construction and federal style detailing;  Oak Hill reflects the increasing popularity of classical features as the Greek Revival style spread from cities into rural areas through the northeast. Its standout features include its relatively large size, its cut stone and fieldstone exterior walls with tooled limestone trim including tapered entry piers, its interior layout with back-to-back fireplaces and interior brick chimneys, the high concentration of original doors, windows, wood trim and hardware, and the notably high-style Portoro black-gold marble fireplaces in the front parlors. As the headquarters for a farm of over 200 acres, the property remained in the ownership of only two families over its first century, and has seen only four owners and remarkably few alterations in the past nine decades. One of the mid-twentieth century owners, the noted children’s book illustrator Eloise Wilkin, also lends significance to the property, as she used images of the home and its interior and exterior details in her illustrations for the popular mid-century Little Golden Books, many of which were completed during her residence at Oak Hill. Though the bulk of the farmland has been subdivided from the current 4.4 acre parcel, the property includes one contributing chicken coop  and one non-contributing storage barn, as well as the partial foundation from a large hay and livestock barn. The period of significance begins with the construction start in 1827 and ends with the sale of the home and its immediate surroundings by the Wilkin family in 1961. 

Background on Canandaigua area 
Canandaigua City and Town occupy a central role in the history of Ontario County and Western New York. They are located at the foot (north end) of Canandaigua Lake and along State Routes 5 and 20, a Seneca Nation trail that predated the coming of settlers from New England and the Middle Atlantic states after the American Revolution. After securing the right to establish townships and sell lots in the area between Seneca Lake and the Genesee River through negotiations with both New York and Massachusetts in 1788, Oliver Phelps and Nathaniel Gorham acquired title to a large tract of land in the western New York, conditional on their negotiation of an ownership agreement with the indigenous tribes. Phelps and Gorham met the condition and laid out a system of ranges and townships, with the intent that Geneva would be the county seat. As the result of a surveyor’s error which cast doubt on Geneva’s viability as the seat, Canandaigua was selected as the center of government and the land office site for the new county, the boundary was surveyed, and the selling of lots began. Townships were typically about six miles square; the Town of Canandaigua was unusual for combining two of the surveyed blocks, Number Nine and Number 10, into a single municipality.  The Village of Canandaigua (incorporated in 1815 and again as the City of Canandaigua in 1913) was settled relatively quickly and became the regional civic and commercial center, with the fertile farmland surrounding the village also attracting buyers, some of whom had been impressed with the quality of the land years earlier as they passed through as soldiers on the Sullivan Campaign in 1779. 
Gorham and Parrish Families 
The original land entrepreneurs, Oliver Phelps and Nathaniel Gorham, were Massachusetts and Connecticut investors. Of the two, Phelps took on the responsibility for the survey work and establishing title, while Gorham remained in New England and in 1789 sent his son, Nathaniel Gorham Jr., along with General Israel Chapin, to establish the settlement at Canandaigua and act as his representative in the Phelps and Gorham Purchase, later Ontario County. Nathaniel Gorham, a Massachusetts merchant and politician, was among the American founding fathers, a delegate to the Continental Congress and its president for five months during 1786, and a signatory to the Constitution. While Phelps and Gorham lost control of more than half of their land investment as a result of monetary fluctuations and poor sales in the 1790s, Oliver Phelps and Nathaniel Gorham Jr. retained title to substantial land in the Village and Town of Canandaigua. Their descendants remained prominent Canandaigua residents and prospered from the use and sale of the property that continued under their control. Nathaniel Gorham Jr. brought his wife Ruthie Wood Gorham to Canandaigua in 1800 to raise their growing family[footnoteRef:1], and operated a family farm and mercantile business on their property northeast of the Canandaigua civic square. The Gorham farm land was later subdivided to open Gorham Street, and the c. 1796 family homestead (24 Gorham Street) and the c. 1812 mercantile building (33 North Main Street), along with several blocks of Gorham Street, are NR listed as part of the Canandaigua Historic District. (NR84002856  ? confirm #)  [1:  Milliken, Charles F, A History of Ontario County and Its People, Vol. 1, p. 257] 

William Wood Gorham (1804-1866), the youngest of three sons of Nathanial Gorham Jr. and Ruthie Wood Gorham, was born and raised on the Gorham farm in Canandaigua. He was named for his uncle William Wood, also a Canandaigua resident and the namesake of Canandaigua’s Wood Library, now at 132 North Main Street, also a contributing building within the Canandaigua Historic District.  Surviving Gorham family ledgers indicate that William Gorham was managing farm labor and materials as early as 1822, at age 17.[footnoteRef:2] After his father’s death in 1826, William assumed much of his father’s role in the family farm operations and other community institutions, while his older brother Nathaniel III took over management of the mercantile business.  [2:  William W. Gorham Manuscript Collection, Ontario County Historical Society, Canandaigua, NY, Box #XII, 1840 Notebook] 

Construction of Oak Hill
One of William’s first actions after his father’s death was to plan the residence the farm at Oak Hill. Upon his father’s death William assumed a Trustee position in the First Congregational Church, which was at the time planning construction of a new parsonage in the City of Canandaigua, at 116 Park Place. William may have benefitted from experience in this project, on a similar scale to his new home, and in fact hired the parsonage builders, Wells and Loveland, for labor on his own project.  In 1827 the Gorham ledgers indicate the purchase of most of the building materials for the substantial home, the construction of which extended over several years, with most of the structural work occurring during 1827-28 and interior work such as plastering and painting during 1828-29. Title to the Oak Hill property was transferred in 1829 from his father’s estate to William, including all of Lot 37, the site of Oak Hill, as well as parts of several other lots. 
The materials that went into the construction of Oak Hill are outlined in expense ledgers from the 1826-1832 period, preserved in the Gorham family archive at the Ontario County Historical Society. William Gorham appears to have acted as his own general contractor, purchasing the construction materials independently and hiring skilled craftsman for the required labor[footnoteRef:3].  Expenses in 1826-28 include: [3:  William W. Gorham Manuscript Collection, Ontario County Historical Society, Canandaigua, NY, Box #XII, 1840 Notebook
 ] 

· 17 loads of stone 1826, 
· 13,541 bricks 1827, 
· 348 bushels of lime (mortar) 1827,
· 28,989 feet of boards, planks, flooring and timbers 1827,
· lath, horse hair, shingles, blinds (shutters), 1827, 
· boxes of 10/8 glass (windows) 1827, 
· 12/7 glass (front door) 1827, 
· door knobs, latches and a $4 door knocker 1827. 
· painting 1828,
·  purchase of large amounts of white horse hair for plastering 1827
· Barnard K. Lee is paid for setting hearth stones and facing door sills and edging 1827
· laying of chimney backs 1828
Expenses in 1829 include:
· painting of chimney pieces, 
· a glass hall lamp 
· 103 cords of wood (indicating occupancy)
Expenses in 1831 include marble hearth stones, new knob locks, and supplementary labor by Asa Spaulding, mason, and by Wells & Loveland.  The 1827 construction contract between the Congregational Church and Wells and Loveland for the parsonage details typical materials and construction practices for a substantial home of the period.[footnoteRef:4]   In addition to the Park Place parsonage, Wells and Loveland are also identified as general contractors for another large and elegant home in the City of Canandaigua during the late 1820s and early 1830s – the Greek Revival 16 Gibson Street (1834)[footnoteRef:5] also included in the Canandaigua Historic District.  [4:  Data from Survey of Historic Properties in City of Canandaigua, ca 1981, in collection of Ontario County Historical Society, Vol XII – Park Place]  [5:  Data from Survey of Historic Properties in City of Canandaigua, ca 1981, in collection of Ontario County Historical Society, Vol III – Gibson Street] 

In 1832 William married Betsey Parrish (1809-1888), another lifetime Canandaigua resident and the daughter of Jasper Parrish, a highly respected community founder since 1792, employed by the U.S. Government as an invaluable interpreter and diplomat in its relations with the indigenous tribes leading up to and after the 1794 Pickering Treaty[footnoteRef:6]. Betsey Parrish’s childhood home was located on the northwest corner of Parrish and South Main Streets in the City of Canandaigua, and no longer survives. Oak Hill and the nearby 1837 Cobblestone Cottage at 3402 West Lake Road, Canandaigua, constructed for Betsey’s older brother Isaac Parrish, are the two best preserved surviving Canandaigua properties associated with the Jasper Parrish family. [6:  https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Jasper_Parrish] 

Oak Hill first appears with the name W. Gorham on a Town map in 1852, when Oak Hill stands as the only structure on Parrish Street Extension between the Village limits and the Cheshire Road (now NYS Route 21).  The Gorham family continued to reside at Oak Hill through the time of William Gorham’s death in 1866, raising five children born between 1834 and 1852. Census records through this period suggest a prosperous farm operation, with up to three household domestics at Oak Hill, and cash books noting up to ten farm hands at certain times of year.  Farm operations covered acreage well beyond Oak Hill, and possibly more than one tenant house, as a handwritten and undated advertisement describing the farm for sale identifies it as including 450 acres, three barns and three houses, though the other locations are not known[footnoteRef:7].  One was likely at the corner of Parrish Street Extension and Cheshire Road (now Route 21 South), where W. Gorham is noted as the owner on the 1852 map; this house is no longer extant.  William Gorham was a life member of the Ontario Agricultural Society, a Director at the Ontario and Utica Bank, and a Trustee of the 1st Congregational Church in Canandaigua, appointed to assume his father’s position upon his death in 1826.  He served as Supervisor for the Town of Canandaigua between 1843 and 1847.[footnoteRef:8] [7:  William W. Gorham Manuscript Collection, Ontario County Historical Society, Canandaigua, NY]  [8:  Milliken, Charles, A History of Ontario County and Its People, Vol. 1, p. 261] 

Subsequent owners
The year after William Gorham’s death his widow Betsey sold the home along with two parcels of land totaling 225 acres to Rufus Durand (1837-1920), a young member of a long-established Canandaigua farm family. Durand’s father, Elias Durand, appears as a laborer in the Gorham farm ledgers, and had leased farm land from William Gorham as early as 1844[footnoteRef:9], so Rufus was likely familiar with the Gorham farm operations.  Rufus Durand’s marriage to Bristol resident Anna Sisson in 1867 marked the start of his occupancy at the farm. Both Durands occupied the property for over 50 years until their deaths in 1920 and 1922. The Durand household operation was smaller and more modest than that of the Gorham family, being farmers without the benefit of the additional property and position enjoyed by the Gorhams.  Rufus was a Trustee of the Canandaigua Presbyterian Society[footnoteRef:10] and a Town Highway Overseer[footnoteRef:11]. Census records between 1870 and 1900 list the two Durands and their only child, Elias Judah Durand, as well as one Sisson relative, one farm laborer and one domestic servant as residents at the farmstead. By 1900 the senior Durands occupied the home by themselves, as Elias J. opted not to continue with the farm, attended Canandaigua Academy and Cornell University and went on to a distinguished career as an academic botanist and mycologist. Rufus Durand was outlived by his wife and son Elias by only two years, both dying in 1922. The occupants of the home during the next 9 years are not known, but in the summer of 1931 the property including Oak Hill, its associated 225 acres and additional land was sold by Sue Stone Durand, widow of Elias Durand, to Major Joseph J. Kingsbury of Buffalo, upon his appointment as an administrator at the VA’s new Canandaigua neuropsychiatric hospital (Canandaigua Veterans Administration Historic District, NR 12NR06328 (confirm #)).   [9:  William W. Gorham Manuscript Collection, Ontario County Historical Society, Canandaigua, NY,  letter of 2-26-1844 at Box#1 Folder #4]  [10:  Ontario Repository and Messenger, 7-27-1882, p.3]  [11:  Ontario County Times, 3-11-1891, p.2] 


As regional administrator of the VA in Buffalo, Kingsbury had played a role in the selection of Canandaigua as the hospital site in 1931; Canandaigua had been the earlier home of his wife, nee Maude C. Davis. While the hospital was in its original construction phase, Kingsbury was appointed Supply Officer at the Canandaigua site. The newspaper announcement of the purchase identifies the property as “one of Canandaigua’s historic landmarks” and indicates the Kingsbury family first intended to make the Canandaigua farm, one of “Canandaigua’s historic landmarks”, their summer home, stating that “The new owner plans to make extensive repairs to the house, one of the fine examples of colonial architecture in this county”[footnoteRef:12]. By the mid 1930s Major Kingsbury had retired, and he and his wife relocated to Oak Hill year round, with the Major pursuing “his hobby of collecting old stove, clocks, firearms, lamps and other antiques with which he and his wife have filled the picturesque old farmhouse.”[footnoteRef:13]  The “extensive repairs” needed are suggested in a ca. 1930s historic image of the house (see image at Section 7); presumably the quality of maintenance had suffered under the final years of the Durand ownership.    [12:  Geneva Daily Times, 7-16-31]  [13:  Democrat and Chronicle 7-2-44] 


In 1945 the Kingsburys sold the property to Mr. and Mrs. Sidney Wilkin. Eloise Burns Wilkin was born in Rochester, NY in 1904 and raised in New York City between 1906 and 1918, returning first to Brockport, NY, and then to Rochester. She was an accomplished art student from an early age, and attended art school beginning at age 16 at the Rochester Athenaeum and Mechanics Institute, the predecessor to Rochester Institute of Technology, graduating in 1923. After pursuing a career in commercial illustration in Rochester for several years, Eloise moved to New York City in 1926  and achieved some modest success in the textbook field, making valuable contacts in the art world but returning regularly to Rochester for extended summer vacations and visits with her fiancé, Rochester-based Sidney J. Wilkin. She was married and returned to Rochester in 1930, living near Lake Ontario and producing four children by 1939. In 1938 she returned to illustrating with the successful publication of Mrs. Peregrine and the Yak, written by her sister Esther.  More work followed gradually from New York children’s book publishers, and in 1944 she was awarded a contract by publisher Simon and Schuster to illustrate three books per year in the Little Golden Books series, a task she planned to complete from her home studio along Lake Ontario. Bolstered by this professional success, the Wilkins purchased Oak Hill from the Kingsburys and relocated to Canandaigua in 1945, fulfilling Eloise’s childhood dream of living in an old stone country house with a large family and many animals.[footnoteRef:14]   [14:  Wilkin, Eloise and Springett, Deborah, The Golden Years of Eloise Wilkin, 2004, privately published] 

Eloise Wilkin’s Little Golden Books illustrations are known for their idyllic depictions of babies and young children in warm natural pastoral and domestic settings. Her fifty-one Little Golden Books published between 1946 and 1975 and other titles remain highly collectible. In addition she designed realistic infant dolls for the Vogue and Madame Alexander lines, including the popular 1960 Baby Dear line. 

 Images of the exterior and some interior features from Oak Hill are included in the background of several of Wilkin’s Little Golden Books. 
[image: ]
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Interior illustration from We Help Daddy 1962 depicts a fireplace similar to those at Oak Hill.

In response to Sidney Wilkin’s failing health and a desire to be closer to Rochester, the Wilkin family sold Oak Hill in 1961 along with 3.4 acres of land to Dr. and Mrs. Robert Fackler, while the Wilkin family retained the remainder of the farmland for the next six decades. The Fackler family raised three children and maintained the home meticulously over 55 years. In 2006 the house and 3.4 acres were sold by the Facklers to the current owners, Timothy and Jennifer Schneider. A lot line adjustment in 2020 restored an additional acre on the west side to the house lot, resulting in the current total of 4.4 acres.  

Architectural significance  
The Oak Hill is National Register eligible under Criterion C as an outstanding early Greek Revival stone farmhouse. As the farmland of Ontario County was sold off in lots in the early decades of the 19th century, the initial owners of farm tracts of land occupied themselves first by clearing the land of trees and then by collecting the necessary materials for construction of a house and barns. Wood was by far the most commonly used building material because of its ready availability, and sawmills, brickyards and blacksmiths offered related services in support of more complex construction activities. Brick and stone houses were acknowledged to be superior to their wood counterparts, being more durable, weatherproof and comfortable, and were therefore a luxury enjoyed by a community’s more prosperous residents. Brick was more commonly used in commercial buildings, while both brick and stone were both employed for the community’s more ambitious homes. An 1860 census  report cited in a 1976 Bi-Centennial History of the Town of Farmington[footnoteRef:15] cites the following statistics on dwellings in Ontario County by construction material type:    [15:  Farmington Bi-Centennial Committee, History of the Town of Farmington 1788-1976, Farmington NY, 1976.] 

Stone			120   (1.6%)
Brick			516   (6.7%)
Frame		         6,591   (84.7%)
Log		 	513   (6.6%)
Total		         7,740

The predominance of wood frame construction carries through to Canandaigua Town, though in Canandaigua stone, and especially cobblestone, appears to have been a more popular material than brick in the pre-1850 period, though the opposite is true within the City of Canandaigua. Among the pre-1850 surviving masonry residences in the Town of Canandaigua, four are cobblestone, two are fieldstone and three are brick; Oak Hill is the only one in the City or the Town with a façade of cut limestone. All are farmhouses, scattered throughout the town. The masonry of Oak Hill bears some similarity to the cut stone houses of the Towns of Marion and Walworth in Wayne County, where a limestone quarry generated the material for a concentration of about 10 cut stone homes built in the second two decades of the 19th century[footnoteRef:16]. Within Ontario County Oak Hill stands out as the largest and the best preserved example of early stone masonry, especially in terms of the amount of surviving original interior and exterior fabric and the still-undeveloped open space surrounding the property.  [16:  Devlin, Cary, “Bicentennial Minute: Cut Stone Architecture in Marion”, Finger Lakes Times, Geneva, NY, 12-29-22] 


Stylistically Oak Hill occupies a transitional position between the Federal Style and the Greek Revival style, especially in its treatment of the second level. Greek Revival homes are often one and one-half stories, with a frieze band containing small windows just below the eaves and sloped second floor ceilings, while Federal style homes tend to have a full height second floor with flat ceilings. Oak Hill’s front second floor windows are smaller than those on the end walls, and some second floor ceilings are partly sloped and partly flat. Fully Greek Revival features include the tooled sills and lintels, the classical entry details including the tapered piers, sidelights and broken transom, the gable end eave returns, and the elegant interior details at the stair, the door and window trim and the fireplaces. The Portoro black-gold marble fireplace surrounds in the front parlors are a particularly high-style feature, though similar examples can be found among other sophisticated homes in the region. The marble was purchased from the merchant firm Cobb & Hastings in November 1831 for the sum of $29.98, equivalent to the cost of 8,000 bricks[footnoteRef:17]. Similar black-gold marble fireplace surrounds from the early Greek Revival period can be seen at the two east side parlor fireplaces at 29 Gibson Street (1842 section), at the 1839 Rose Hill Mansion outside Geneva,  in the 1836 Campbell-Whittlesey House parlor at 36 Troup Street in Rochester, and at the Dining Room of c. 1830 NHL property Hyde Hall, at 267 Glimmerglass State Park, Cooperstown, NY. In the case of Hyde Hall, the fireplace surround, of Italian Portoro marble, was one of three purchased in 1831 from New York City stone cutter Joseph N. Barnes. [footnoteRef:18]  A New York stone dealer such as Barnes could have easily supplied Ontario County with their products by means of the Erie Canal, opened in 1925, and the use of a relatively high-style European fireplace surround as an impressive focal feature in the parlor, the most public rooms of the house, would be understandable for a young and prosperous family seeking to create a residence of distinction. The William Gorham manuscript archive documents a hotel stay in New York City in 1828, perhaps scouting for ornamental materials for his home under construction.   [17:  William W. Gorham Manuscript Collection, Ontario County Historical Society, Canandaigua, NY, Box #XII, 1840 Notebook]  [18:  https://hydehall.org/dining-room-marble-mantel-great-house-1829-1834/   retrieved 12-11-23] 


The Onondaga Limestone tapered stone piers on either side of the central entrance are another unusual feature of Oak Hill, possibly an element of the Egyptian Revival style which was occasionally employed in the late Federal period, though more commonly in institutional buildings than in residential architecture. Similar examples can be found at 175 Bristol Street, Canandaigua and at 29 Gibson Street, Canandaigua. 29 Gibson Street was built over two decades, with Federal style details in the eastern half of its front section (1828) and later Greek Revival details in the western half (1842), and it is unclear which of the construction periods produced the tapered piers, but the presence of very similar black marble fireplace surrounds and tapered stone piers on both houses suggests some communication or consultation between the owners and/or contractors for the two properties. 

Among the other stone masonry homes during the Greek Revival period, the 1837 Isaac Parrish House at 3402 West Lake Road, breakfast, now a bed-and-breakfast, is of interest for having been built for the brother of Betsey Parrish. The F.A. Sackett Farm at 5255 West Avenue Extension, was built in 1840, also for a young member of a successful local farming family and has similar stonework to that of Oak Hill, however it has an H plan with a cross-gable roof and Gothic Revival features in its windows and front porch, giving it a much different overall appearance.  Oak Hill represents the Town’s most intact and impressive example of a rural Greek Revival residence as the result of excellent craftsmanship and a history of careful stewardship by a limited number of long-term owners. It exhibits a very high level of integrity, with the original exterior masonry, trim, doors and windows remaining intact along with many interior features and its largely undisturbed setting retaining the original feeling and association of an elegant rural Greek Revival farmhouse. 

Boundary Justification 
The nomination reflects the current property that includes the Oak Hill residence and the one surviving contributing outbuilding plus the ruins of the barn foundation. The remaining farmland and wooded acreage were retained by the Wilkin family with farming continuing under lease through c. 2020. The northeast portion of the former farm is undergoing residential development, but the land immediately surrounding the Oak Hill parcel will remain undeveloped under a conservation easement. 
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